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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )
                              )

               Plaintiff, )      
                               )
     v.                        )      No. 07-10234-MLB
                               )
STEPHEN J. SCHNEIDER, )  

and  )  
LINDA K. SCHNEIDER, a/k/a )  
LINDA K. ATTERBURY, )  
d/b/a SCHNEIDER MEDICAL CLINIC, )  

)  
     Defendants. )  

________________________________)

GOVERNMENT’S TRIAL BRIEF REGARDING 
DEFENDANTS’ CRIMINAL LIABILITY

The United States of America, by and through Assistant United States Attorney

Tanya J. Treadway, pursuant to the Court’s request, submits this trial brief regarding the

defendants’ criminal liability for their own conduct and the conduct of their employees

which they knowingly directed, expected, affirmed, acquiesced in, and from which they

directly profited.  This pleading gives only a brief overview of the evidence and

applicable law.  

DISCUSSION

The defendants want to claim that they are not responsible for the prescriptions

issued by their employees or the bills submitted by the Clinic’s billing employees. 

Essentially, the defendants want to be held accountable for only their direct actions. 

But, as the Court is well aware, this is not the law.  While there is and will be ample

evidence of the defendants’ direct actions, the law does not so limit their liability.  The
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defendants have attempt to suggest through cross examination questions that the

defendants had little to no involvement in the treatment of certain people named in the

indictment. The government submits that these questions have been purposely and

seriously misleading and will be refuted by the evidence as a whole.  For example, the

evidence will prove that the defendant Stephen Schneider directly treated the patients

identified in the indictment and/or affirmed the treatment Physician’s Assistants provided

by  countersigning their progress notes, an act that gave him knowledge of the

Physician’s Assistants’ activities and through which he adopted those activities.    

As the defendants are charged, and as the evidence will prove, they created and

operated a scheme through which economic incentives drove the activities at the Clinic

and which prevented the legitimate practice of medicine.  No one prescription for

controlled substances resulted in anyone’s death.  Instead, the course of non-treatment

over the time the person was seen at Schneider Medical Clinic, by defendant

Schneider, by Physician’s Assistants under his supervision and control, and under the

policies and procedures both defendants developed and implemented, resulted in at

least 21 deaths.   

In the context of this case, which involves a scheme and conspiracy to illegally

distribute drugs and commit health care fraud, both defendants are legally responsible

for all activities at their Clinic under multiple theories: direct liability, co-conspirator/

agency liability, and aiding and abetting liability. See, e.g., Doc. 273 at Proposed

Instructions #9 (conspiracy), #34 (aiding and abetting), and legal authority cited therein;

see also, United States v. Alerre, 430 F.3d 681 (4th Cir. 2005) (describing convictions of

multiple doctors who ran a clinic that was a “front” for distributing drugs, where
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superficial exams were conducted and medical charts were falsified to deceive

insurance companies and investigators).   These theories are fully set forth in the

detailed factual allegations and charges of the Indictment, which the government

continues to prove.  

As set forth repeatedly throughout the Indictment, the defendants are charged

with distributing drugs and causing drugs to be distributed, and submitting false claims

and causing false claims to be submitted.  That the defendants used others – some

wittingly and others unwittingly – to accomplish this scheme does not diminish their

criminal liability.  Aiding and abetting liability has always provided that a person cannot

do indirectly what he/she cannot do directly.  See 18 U.S.C. § 2.  Furthermore, the law

has long held that defendant Linda Schneider, although a non-registrant under the DEA

regulations, can violate 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) as either a co-conspirator or an aider and

abettor.  See, e.g., Doc. 273 at Proposed Instruction #15; see also, United States v.

Green, 511 F.2d 1062 (7th Cir. 1975).   

Although only two employees have testified to date, other employees will be

testifying, including Physician’s Assistants.  The evidence has been and will be that the

defendants orchestrated and conducted the scheme by setting the policies and

procedures at the Clinic and directing how drugs were distributed and how claims were

submitted.  That drugs were distributed by the illegitimate prescribing of controlled

substances makes this no different than any other drug distribution case, where the

drug dealer is responsible for the illegal drugs his employees foreseeably sell.  The

Physician’s Assistants will testify that they had little, if any, discretion in prescribing
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controlled substances; instead, they were instructed to prescribe as defendant Stephen

Schneider had previously prescribed, and the defendants reversed the Physician’s

Assistants’ attempts to change the controlled substances prescriptions or terminate

abusing patients. 

Additionally, the defendant Stephen Schneider was directly responsible for the

care provided through mid-level practitioners.  He countersigned the charts, represented

on the Fee Tickets that the “services” had been provided (a document that the

insurance companies would rely upon if auditing the practice), and both defendants

directed what the Physician’s Assistants did and did not do, including how much time

they were allowed to spend with patients and how they marked the Fee Tickets for the

services allegedly rendered.  Notably, while the defendants now want to disclaim

responsibility for the actions of the Physician’s Assistants, during the course and

furtherance of the scheme and conspiracy, they were certainly willing to take credit in

the billing process, increasing their income by at least 15% for every claim which

represented that the defendant Stephen Schneider, and not a Physician’s Assistant,

provided the services.  

The defendants allowed Physician’s Assistants – who had yet to obtain DEA

Registration numbers –  to illegally prescribe controlled substances by providing them

pre-signed prescription pads, a fact the defendant Stephen Schneider admitted in his

September 13, 2005, interview with DEA Agent Judy Watterson.  See United States v.

Singh, 390 F.3d 168 (2d Cir. 2004).  As detailed in the Indictment, and as already

evidenced by many witnesses, the defendants constructed the scheme to illegally

distribute drugs through prescriptions written outside the normal course of practice and
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not for a legitimate medical purpose.  The manner in which the defendants operated the

Clinic evidences that the pain management practice was not the legitimate practice of

medicine.  Within this design – concocted by the defendants – all activities were at their

direction and under their control. 

As to the health care fraud allegations, the fact that others actually keyed in the

claims for electronic submission, makes this no different than any health care fraud

case where the defendants are charged with causing false claims to be submitted.  As

has been established, the defendants directly profited from their drug distribution and

health care fraud conspiracy and scheme.  

This is not a case in which rogue employees were acting on their own, without

the defendants’ direct instructions and/or knowledge.  Instead, it is a conspiracy and

scheme which operated under the direction of both defendants, from how the

defendants directed the Clinic to operate as a volume business, leaving no time to

practice medicine, to how the defendants instructed people to falsify information in the

medical charts, and to upcode claims as to both the level of services and the identity of

the provider.  Alternatively, the defendants acted intentionally if they deliberately ignored

facts about their own clinic.  See Doc. 273 at Proposed Instruction #37 

Although the defendants may choose to blame others in closing arguments, and

argue that they should not be held responsible for all of the criminal activities that

occurred at their direction and with their knowing acquiescence, the Court will be

instructing the jury about the theories of liability, supported by both the evidence and

legal precedent, that allows the jury to hold them responsible as direct actors,

conspirators, and aiders and abettors.  
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CONCLUSION

The government submits that the Court, at the close of the case, should instruct

the jury according to the applicable law that the defendants are liable for their direct

criminal conduct, and the criminal conduct committed in furtherance of and during the

course of the scheme and conspiracy, as well as the criminal conduct which they aided

and abetted.  The government will continue to present evidence about the many layers

of involvement each defendant had in this criminal scheme and conspiracy. 

Respectfully submitted,

LANNY WELCH
United States Attorney

s/ Tanya J. Treadway

Tanya J. Treadway #13255
Assistant United States Attorney

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on May 11, 2010, I electronically filed the foregoing with the

Clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice of electronic

filing to the following individuals:

Lawrence W. Williamson, Jr.
218 Delaware, Suite 207
Kansas City, MO   64105

Eugene V. Gorokhov
1739 Clarendon Blvd. 
Arlington, VA   22209

Kevin P. Byers
529 E. Town Street, Suite 200
Columbus, OH   43125-3456

David Phillip Leon
1540 N. Broadway, Suite 101
Wichita, KS   67214

s/   Tanya J. Treadway                       
Tanya J. Treadway #13255
Assistant United States Attorney
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